

# The Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments Act, 1958 Act 25 of 1958

## Keyword(s):

Apprentice, Child, Closed, Commercial Establishment, Employee, Employer, Establishment, Factory, Goods, Holiday, Inspection, Labour Commissioner, Leave, Local Authority, Member of a Family of an Employer, Opened, Period of Work, Registered, Registration Certificate, Residential Hotel, Restaurant or Eating-House, Shop, Spread-Over, Theatre, Wage

Amendment appended: 21 of 2014, 20 of 2025

## MADHYA PRADESH ACT

No. 25 of 1958

## THE MADHYA PRADESH SHOPS AND ESTABLISHMENTS ACT, 1958

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Sections		Page
	CHAPTER I Preliminary	
1.	Short title, extent, operation and application.	91
2.	Definitions.	91
3.	Act not applicable to certain persons and establishments.	93
4.	Application of Act to other establishments and persons.	94
5.	Suspension of all or any of the provisions of this Act.	94
•	CHAPTER II	
	Registration of Establishments	
6.	Registeration of establishments.	94
7.	Change to be communicated to Inspector.	95
8.	Closing of establishment to be communicated to Inspector.	95
	CHAPTER III	
i	Shops and Commercial Establishments	
9.	Opening and closing hours.	95
10.	Hawking prohibited before opening and after closing hours of shops.	9 <b>6</b>
11.	Hours of work in shops and commercial establishments.	96
12.	Spread-over in shops and commercial establishments.	96
13.	Holidays in a week in shops and commercial establishments.	97
: 7	CHAPTER IV	
	Residential Hotels, Restaurants and Eating-Houses	
14.	Opening and closing hours of restaurants and eating houses.	98:
15.	Restriction on selling of goods.	98
16.	Hours of work in residential hotels, restaurants and eating houses.	98
17.	Spread-over.	98
18.	Holidays in a week.	98
18-A	. Employers in residential hotel, etc. to furnish identity card to employees.	99
	CHAPTER V	

## Theatres or other Places of Public Amusement or Entertainment

19. Closing hour of theatres or other places of public amusement 99 or entertainment.

Sec	ctions		Page
	20.	Theatres or other places of public amusement or entertainment not to sell goods of the kind sold in shops after the closing hour of shops.	9 <b>9</b>
	21.	Hours of work in theatres or other places of public amusement or entertainment.	99
	22.	Spread-over.	9 <b>9</b>
	23.	Holidays in a week.	99
	23-A	. Employer in a theatre, etc. to furnish identity card to employee.	100
		CHAPTER VI	
•		Employment of Children, Young Persons and Women	100
•	24	No child to work in any establishment.	
	25.	Young persons and women to work between 7 a. m. to 9 p.m.	100
	25-A	. Daily hours of work for young persons.	100
		Prohibition of employment of young persons and women in dangerous work.	100
		CHAPTER VII	
		Leave with Pay and Payment of Wages	100
	26.	Employee's right for casual and privilege leave.	101
	27.	Pay during leave.	101
	28.	Payment when to be made.	101
	29.	Power of Inspector to act for workers.	101
	30.	Application and amendment of the Payment of Wages Act, 1936	. 101
		CHAPTER VIII	
		Health and Safety	
	31.	Cleanliness.	101
	32.	Ventilation.	102
	33.	Precautions against fire.	102
		CHAPTER IX	
		Enforcement and Inspection	
	34.	Powers and duties of local authorities.	102
٠	<b>3</b> 5.	Power to make bye-laws.	102
	36.	Submission of annual report, etc.	102
	37.	Delegation.	102
	38.	Power of Government to provide for performance of duties of default by local authority.	n 102
	<b>3</b> 9.	Expenses of local authority to be paid out of its fund.	103
	40.	Appointment of Inspectors.	103

Se	ections	Page
	41. Powers and duties of Inspectors.	103
	42. Inspectors to be public servants.	103
	43. Employer to produce registers, records etc. for inspection.	103
	CHAPTER X	
	Offences and Penalties	
	44. Contravention of certain provisions and offences.	103
	45. Contravention of section 10.	104
	46. Employees contravening sections 13(3), 18, 25 and 57.	104
	47. False entries by employer and manager.	104
	48. Enhanced penalty in certain cases after previous conviction.	104
	49. Penalty for obstructing Inspector.	105
	50. Persons who may be liable to be prosecuted against and punished.	105
	51. Cognizance of offences.	105
	51-A. Summary disposal of cases.	105
	51-B. Offences to be tried by Executive Magistrate.	105
	52. Limitation of prosecutions.	106
	53. Composition of offence.	106
	CHAPTER XI	
	Miscellaneous and Supplementary	
	54. Maintenance of registers and records and display of notices.	106
	55. Wages for overtime work.	106
	56. Evidence as to age.	
	30. Hydred as to age.	106
	57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.	10 <b>6</b> 106
	57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.	106
	<ul><li>57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.</li><li>58. Notice of dismissal.</li></ul>	106 106
	<ul><li>57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.</li><li>58. Notice of dismissal.</li><li>59. Rules.</li></ul>	106 106 107
	<ul> <li>57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.</li> <li>58. Notice of dismissal.</li> <li>59. Rules.</li> <li>60. Protection to persons acting under this Act.</li> </ul>	106 106 107 108
	<ul> <li>57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.</li> <li>58. Notice of dismissal.</li> <li>59. Rules.</li> <li>60. Protection to persons acting under this Act.</li> <li>61. Rights and privileges under other law, etc. not effected.</li> <li>62 Persons employed in factory to be governed by Factories Act</li> </ul>	106 106 107 108
	<ul> <li>57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.</li> <li>58. Notice of dismissal.</li> <li>59. Rules.</li> <li>60. Protection to persons acting under this Act.</li> <li>61. Rights and privileges under other law, etc. not effected.</li> <li>62 Persons employed in factory to be governed by Factories Act and not by this Act.</li> <li>63. Provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Act, to apply</li> </ul>	106 106 107 108 108
	<ul> <li>57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.</li> <li>58. Notice of dismissal.</li> <li>59. Rules.</li> <li>60. Protection to persons acting under this Act.</li> <li>61. Rights and privileges under other law, etc. not effected.</li> <li>62 Persons employed in factory to be governed by Factories Act and not by this Act.</li> <li>63. Provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Act, to apply mutatis mutandis.</li> </ul>	106 106 107 108 108 108
	<ul> <li>57. Restriction of double employment on a holiday or during leave.</li> <li>58. Notice of dismissal.</li> <li>59. Rules.</li> <li>60. Protection to persons acting under this Act.</li> <li>61. Rights and privileges under other law, etc. not effected.</li> <li>62 Persons employed in factory to be governed by Factories Act and not by this Act.</li> <li>63. Provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Act, to apply mutatis mutandis.</li> <li>64. Provisions of provident fund.</li> </ul>	106 106 107 108 108 108

## MADHYA PRADESH ACT

(No. 25 of 1958)<sup>1</sup>

## THE MADHYA PRADESH SHOPS AND ESTABLISHMENTS ACT, 1958

(Received the assent of the President on the 20th September 1958; assent first published in the Madhya Pradesh Gazette on the 3rd October, 1958.)

An Act to provide for the regulation of conditions of work and employment in shops, commercial establishments, residential hotels, restaurants, eatinghouses, theatres, other places of public amusements or entertainment and other establishments.

Be it enacted by the Madhya Pradesh Legislature in the Ninth Year of the Republic of India as follows:

#### CHAPTER-I

#### **Preliminary**

- 1. (1) This Act may be called the Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments Act, 1958.
  - (2) It extends to the whole of Madhya Pradesh.
- (3) It shall come into force on such date2 as the Government may, by notification, appoint in this behalf.
- [(4) This Act shall apply in the first instance to the local areas specified in Schedule I. The State Government may, by notification, direct that all or any of the provisions of this Act shall apply to any other local area as may be specified in the notification on such date as may be fixed therein & different dates may be fixed for different provisions of this Act and for different classes of establishments. 13
- 2. In this Act, unless there is anything repugnant in the subject or context,-
- Definitions.

Short title, extent operation

and application.

- "apprentice" means a person who is employed, whether on pay-(1)ment of wages or not, for the purpose of being trained in any trade, craft, business or employment in any establishment;
- "child" means a person who is below fourteen years;]4  $\tilde{I}(2)$
- "closed" means not open for the service of any customer, or for any business of the establishment or for any work connected with the establishment; 75
- "commercial establishment" means an establishment which carries on any business, trade or profession or any work in connection with, or incidental or ancillary to, any business, trade or profe ssion and includes--
- a society registered or deemed to have been registered under the Madhya Pradesh Societies Registration Act, 1959 (I of 1960)6 and a chartiable or other trust, whether registered or

For Statement of Objects and Reasons (in English), see Madhya Pradesh Gazette, dated the 21st March 1958, page 48 and (in Hindi) 67. For Proceedings in Assembly see Madhya Pradesh Vidhan Sabba Proceedings, 1958, Volume III, pages 2381, 2443 to 2498, 2917, 3147 and 3336 to 3353.

<sup>1</sup>st January 1959, see Labour Department Notification No. 293 dated the 16/17 December 1958, published in the Madhya Pradesh Gazette dated the 19th December 1958 Part I at Page

Subs. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 2.

Subs. by S. 3 (i), ibid. Subs. by S. 3 (ii), ibid. See now M. P. Society Registrikaran Adhiniyam, 44 of 1973.

not, which carries on whether for gain or not, any luences, trade or profession or work in connection with or incleased or ancillary to such business, trade or profession;]1

- (b) an establishment which carries on the business of advertising, commission agency, forwarding or commercial agency or which is a clerical department of a factory or of any industrial or commercial undertaking;
- (c) an insurance company, joint stock company, bank, broker's office and exchange;

but does not include a factory, shop, residential hotel, restaurant, eating-house, theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment;

(5) "day" means the period of twenty-four hours beginning at midnight:

Provided that in the case of an employee whose hours of work extend beyond midnight, day means the period of twenty four hours beginning when such employment commences irrespective of midnight;

- [(6) "employee" means a person wholly or principally employed, whether directly or through any agency, and whether for wages or other consideration, in or in connection with any establishment, and includes an apprentice, but does not include a member of the employer's family;]<sup>2</sup>
- (7) "employer" means a person owning or having ultimate control over the affairs of an establishment and includes the manager, agent or any other person acting in the general management or control of such establishment;
- (8) "establishment" means a shop, commercial establishment, residential hotel, restaurant, eating-house, theatre, or other place of public amusement or entertainment to which this Act applies and includes such other establishment of like nature as the Government may, by notification, declare to be an establishment for the purposes of this Act;
- (9) "factory" means any premises which is a factory within the meaning of clause (m) of section 2 of the Factories Act, 1948 (63 of 1948) or which is deemed to be a factory under section 85 of the said Act;
  - (10) "goods" includes all materials, commodities and articles;
- (11) "holiday" means a day on which an establishment shall remain closed or on which an employee shall be given a holiday under the provisions of this Act;
- (12) "Inspector" means an Inspector appointed or deemed to be appointed under the Act, whether by name or by virtue of office;
- (13) "Labour Commissioner" means the person appointed as such by the Government and includes, for the purposes of such provisions of the Act, and for such areas as the Government may direct, an officer not below the rank of an Assistant Labour Commissioner;
  - (14) "leave" means leave as provided for in Chapter VII of this Act;
- (15) "Local authority" means a municipal corporation or municipality constituted under any enactment in force for the time being;
  - (16) "manager" means a person declared to be a manager under section 6;
- (17) "member of the family of an employer" means the husband, wife, son, daughter, father, mother, brother or sister of an employer who lives with and is dependent on such employer;

<sup>1.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 2 (ii).

<sup>2.</sup> Subs. by S. 2 (iii), ibid.

[(18) 'opened' means opened for the service of any customer or for any business of the establishment, or for any work connected with the establishment;

Explanation—An establishment in the premises of which people are present shall be presumed to be opened unless contrary is proved; ]1

- (19) "period of work" means the time during which an employee is at the disposal of the employer;
- (20) "register of establishment" means a register maintained for the registration of establishments under this Act;
- (21) "registration certificate" means a certificate showing the registration of an establishment;
- (22) "residential hotel" means any premises in which a bonafide business is carried on of supplying for payment lodging or board and lodging to travellers and other members or class of members of the public and includes a residential club;
- (23) "restaurant or eating-house" means any premises in which is carried on wholly or principally the business of the supply of meals or refreshments to the public or a class of the public for consumption on the premises, and includes a Halwai's shop; but does not include a restaurant or a canteen attached to a factory if the persons employed therein are allowed the benefits provided for workers under the Factories Act, 1948 (63 of 1948);
- (24) "shop" means any premises where goods are sold, either by retail or wholesale or both or where services are rendered to customers, and includes an office, a store room, godown, warehouse or workplace, whether in the same premises or otherwise used in connection with such trade or business but does not include a factory, a commercial establishment, residential hotel, restaurant, eating-house, theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment or a shop attached to a factory where the persons employed in the shop are allowed the benefits provided for workers under the Factories Act, 1948 (63 of 1948);
- (25) "spread-over" means the period between the commencement and the termination of the work of an employee on any day;
- (26) "theatre" includes any premises intended principally or wholly for the exhibition of pictures or other optical effects by means of a cinematograph or other suitable apparatus or for a dramatic performance or for any other public amusement or entertainment;
- (27) "wages" means wages as defined in the Payment of Wages Act, 1936 (4 of 1936);
- (28) "week" means the period of seven days beginning at midnight of Saturday;
  - (29) "year" means a year commencing on the first day of April; and
- (30) "young person" means a person who is not child and has not completed his seventeenth year.
  - 3. (1) Nothing in this Act shall apply to-
    - [(a) persons occupying positions of management and declared as such under clause (a) of sub-section (2) of section 6 or employed in a confidential capacity not exceeding ten per cent of the total number of the employeesin the establishment or three in number whichever is less;]<sup>2</sup>
    - (b) persons whose work is inherently intermittent such as traveller, canvasser, a watchman or a caretaker;

Act not applicable to certain persons and establishments

r

<sup>1.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 3 (iii).

<sup>2.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 3 (i).

- (c) persons exclusively engaged in preparatory or complementary work, such as clearing or forwarding clerks, responsible for the despatch of goods by rail or other means of communication and for customs formalities or messengers;
- (d) persons exclusively employed in the collection, delivery or conveyance of goods;
- (e) offices of the Union or State Government or of local authorities and of the Reserve Bank of India, the State Bank of India and the Life Insurance Corporation;
- (f) establishment for the treatment or the care of the sick, infirm, destitute or mentally unfit;
- (g) bazars, fairs or exhibitions for the sale of works for charitable or other purposes from which no profit is derived;
- (h) stalls and refreshment rooms at railway stations, or railway dining cars;
- [(i) x x x x x y 1
- (j) clubs not being residential clubs; and
- (k) any other class of establishments or class of persons which the Government may, by notification, exempt from the operation of this Act,

Provided that if in the opinion of the State Government the circumstances existing in any particular class of cases hereinbefore mentioned requires that all or any of the provisions of this Act should be extended thereto, the State Government may, by notification, extend to such class of cases all or any of the provisions of this Act and thereupon such provisions shall apply to such class of cases.

(2) The Government may, by notification, direct that any or all of the provisions of this Act shall, subject to such terms and conditions as may be specified in such direction, not apply to such classes of establishments or class of persons as may be specified therein.

î

Application of Act to other establishments and persons.

- [4. (1) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, the Government may, by notification, declare any establishment or class of establishments to which or any person or class of persons to whom, this Act or any of the provisions thereof does not for the time being apply, to be an establishment or class of establishments or a person or class of persons to which or whom this Act or any provision thereof shall apply from such date as may be specified in the notification.
- (2) On such declaration under sub-section (1), any such establishment or class of establishments or such person or class of persons shall be deemed to be an establishment or class of establishments to which, or to be an employee or class of employees to whom this Act applies and all or any of the provisions of this Act, shall apply to such establishment or class of establishments or to such employee or class of employees.]<sup>2</sup>

Suspension of all or any of the provisions of this Act. 5. The Government may suspend by order notified in the Gazette, the operation of all or any of the provisions of this Act for such period and subject to such conditions as it deems fit on account of any festivals or other special occasions.

#### CHAPTER—II

## Registration of Establishments

Registration of establishments.

- 6. (1) Every establishment to which this Act applies shall be registered in accordance with the provision of this section.
- (2) Within thirty days from the date on which this Act applies to an establishment, its employer shall send to the Inspector of the area concerned a statement, in the prescribed form, together with such fees, as may be prescribed containing—

<sup>1.</sup> Omitted by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 3. (ii).

<sup>2.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 4.

- [(a) the name of the employer, the manager and the person holding positions of management, if any;]<sup>1</sup>
- [(b) the postal address of, and the date of starting the business by, the establishment;] 2
  - (c) the name, if any, of the establishment;
- (d) the category of the establishment, i.e. whether it is a shop, commercial establishment, residential hotel, restaurant, eating-house, theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment; and
- (e) such other particulars, as may be prescribed.
- (3) On receipt of the statement and the fees, the Inspector shall, on being satisfied about the correctness of the statement, register the establishment in the register of establishments in such manner as may be prescribed and shall issue, in the prescribed form, a registration certificate to the employer. The registration certificate shall be prominently displayed at the establishment.
- (4) In the event of any doubt or difference of opinion between an employer and the Inspector as to the category to which an establishment should belong, the Inspector shall refer the matter to the Labour Commissioner who shall, after such inquiry as he thinks proper, decide the category of such establishment and his decision shall be final for the purposes of this Act.
- (5) The Government may, by notification, require renewal of registration certificates issued under this section at such intervals not being less than one year, and on payment of such fee as may be prescribed.
- (6) The registration fee and the renewal fee shall not exceed five rupees per establishment.
- 7. It shall be the duty of an employer to notify to the Inspector, in the prescribed form, any change in respect of any information contained in his statement under section 6 within seven days after the change has taken place. The Inspector shall, on receiving such notice and on being satisfied about its correctness, make the change in the register of the establishments in accordance with such notice and shall amend the registration certificate or issue a fresh registration certificate if necessary.
- 3. The employer shall, within ten days of his closing the establishment, notify to the Inspector in writing accordingly. The Inspector shall, on receiving the information and being satisfied about its correctness, remove such establishment from the register of establishment and cancel the registration certificate.

Change to be communicated to Inspector.

Closing of establishment to be communicated to Inspector.

#### CHAPTER-III

## Shops and Commercial Establishments

- 9. (1) No shop or commercial establishment shall on any day-
  - (a) be opened earlier than such hour as may be fixed by the Government by a general or special order in this behalf;
  - (b) be kept open later than such hour as may be fixed by the Government by general or special order in this behalf:

Provided that any customer who was being served or was waiting to be served at the closing hour so fixed in any shop may be served in such shop during half hour immediately following such hour.

Opening and closing hours.

<sup>1.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 5.

<sup>2</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 4.

(2) The Government may fix different opening or closing hours fo different classes of shops and commercial establishments or for different area or for different periods of the year.

Hawking prohibited before opening and after closing hours of shops.

10. (1) No person shall carry on in or adjacent to a street or a public place the sale of any goods before the opening and after the clesing hours fixed under section 9 for the shops dealing in the same class of goods in the locality in which such street or public place is situate:

Provided that nothing in this section shall apply to the sale of newspapers.

- <sup>1</sup>[(2) Any person contravening the provisions of sub-section (1) shall be liable to have his goods seized by an Inspector.
- (3) The goods seized under sub-section (2) shall be returned to the person from whom they were seized on his depositing rupees [fifty]<sup>2</sup> as security for his appearance in the Court.
- (4) If the person fails to make the deposit, the goods seized shall be produced without delay before a Court, who may give such directions as to their temporary custody, as it thinks fit.
- (5) Where no prosecution is instituted for contravention of the provisions of sub-section (1) within such period as the Court may fix in this behalf the Court shall direct their return to the person from whom they were seized.
- (6) Subject to the provisions of the preceding sub-section, the provisions of Code of Criminal Precedure, 1898 (No V of 1898)<sup>3</sup>, shall so far as they may be applicable, apply to the disposal of the goods seized under this section.]

Hours of work in shops and commercial establishments.

- 11. [(1) (a) No employee in any shop or commercial establishment shall be required or allowed to work for more than 48 hours in a week.
  - (b) Subject to clause (a) no employee shall be required to work—
    - (i) in any shop, for more than nine hours on any day;
    - (ii) in any commercial establishment, for more than ten hours on any day.]4
- (2) Any employee may be required or allowed to work in a shop or commercial establishment for any period in excess of the limit fixed under subsection (1) if such period does not exceed [six]<sup>5</sup> hours in any week.
- (3) On not more than six days in a year, which the Government may fix by rules made in this behalf, for purposes of making of accounts, stock—taking, settlements or other prescribed occasions, any employee may be required or allowed to work in a shop or commercial establishment in excess of the period fixed under sub-section (1), if such excess period does not exceed twenty-four nours.

Spread-over in shops and commercial establishments.

12. The spread—over of an employee in a shop or commercial establishment shall not exceed twelve hours on a day:

Provided that in cases where any shop or commercial establishment is on any day entirely closed for a continuous period of not less than three hours, the spread-over shall not exceed thirteen hours on that day:

<sup>1.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 6.

<sup>2</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 5, for "fifteen".

<sup>3.</sup> See now the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (2 of 1974).

<sup>4.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 7.

<sup>5.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 6, for "three".

Provided also that where an employee works on any day in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (2) of section 11, the spread-over shall not exceed fourteen hours on any such day and where he works on any day in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (3) of the said section, the spread-over shall not exceed sixteen hours, on any such day:

Provided further that the Government may increase the spread—over period subject to such conditions as it may think fit either generally in the case of commercial establishments or in the case of a class of commercial establishments.

13. (1) Every shop and commercial establishment, shall remain closed on one day of the week. The employer shall fix such day at the begining of the year, notify it to the Inspector and specify it in a notice prominently displayed in a conspicuous place in the shop or commercial establishment. The employer shall not alter such day more often than once in three months, shall notify the alternation to the Inspector and make the necessary change in the notice in the shop or commercial establishment:

[Provided that where any shop or commercial establishment comes after the beginning of any year within the purview of this Act, for the first time, the employer shall also fix such day of the week on which the shop or commercial establishment shall remain closed and notify it to the Inspector within one month of the date on which the shop or establishment so comes within the purview of this Act]<sup>1</sup>

- (2) If any day notified as holiday under sub-section (1) happens to be a day of public festival, the employer may keep the shop or commercial establishment open on such day but in that event he shall keep the shop or commercial establishment closed on some other day within three days before or after the date of such public festival and give notice of the change to the Inspector at least seven clear days before the day of such public festival.
- (3) It shall not be lawful for an employer to call an employee at, or for any employee to go to, his shop or commercial establishment or any other place for any work in connection with the business of his shop or commercial establishment on a day on which such shop or commercial establishment remain closed.
- [(3-A) Notwithstanding any thing contained in sub-section (1), the State Government or any officer authorised by it in this behalf may, if it or he thinks fit so to do in public interest, by notification, fix any day of the week to be the closed day in respect of all or any class of shops or commercial establishments in any or all the local area or part thereof, and the closed day so fixed shall be deemed to have been fixed under sub-section (1):

Provided that the employer shall have no right to alter the closed day so fixed.]2

[(4) No deduction shall be made from the wages of any employee in a shop or commercial establishment on account of any day on which it has remained closed under this section. If any employee is employed on daily wages he shall nonetheless be paid wages for the weekly holiday equal to the average of daily wages earned by him during the preceding six working days. If any employee is paid a piece rate wage, he shall nonetheless be paid his wage for the day on which the shop or commercial establishment remain closed at a rate equivalent to the daily average of his wages for the days on which he has actually worked during the six days preceding such closed day, exclusive of any earning in respect of overtime:

Provided that nothing in this sub-section shall apply to any person whose total period of continuous employment is less than six days.]3

Holidays in a week in shops and commercial establishments.

<sup>1.</sup> Added by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 8 (i).

<sup>2.</sup> Ins. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 7.

<sup>3.</sup> Added by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 8 (ii).

#### CHAPTER-IV

## Residential Hotels, Restaurants and Eating-Houses

Opening and closing hours of restaurants and eating-houses.

14. (1) Notwithstanding anything contained in any other enactment for the time being inforce, no restaurants or eating-houses shall on any day be opened earlier than 5 a. m. and be kept open later than 1.30 a. m. for service:

Provided that an employee in such restaurant or eating-house may be required to commence work not earlier than 4.30 a. m. and shall not be required to work later than 2 a. m.:

Provided also that any customer who was being served or waiting to be served at the closing hour of such restaurant or eating-house may be served in such restaurant or eating-house during the half hour immediately following such hour.

- (2) Subject to the provisions of sub-section (1), the Government may fix later opening or earlier closing hours for different restaurants or eating-houses or for different areas or for different periods of the year.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in this section or any other enactment for the time being in force, the Government may, by notification, fix for specific periods in a year on festive or special occasions such opening and closing hours for different restaurants or eating-houses or for different areas, as it thinks proper.

Restriction on selling of goods.

15. Before and after the hours fixed for the opening and closing of shops under section 9, no goods of the kind sold in such shops shall be sold in any restaurant or eating-house except for consumption on premises.

Hours of work in residential hotels, restaurants and eating-houses.

- [16. (1) No employee in any residential hotel, restaurant or eating-house shall be required or allowed to work for more than forty eight hours in a week and nine hours in a day.
- (2) Any employee may be required or allowed to work in a residential hotel, or restaurant or eating-house for any period in excess of the limit fixed under sub-section (1) if such additional period does not exceed six hours in any week.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-sections (1) and (2), an employee may be required or allowed to work in a residential hotel, restaurant or eating-house on the day which may be notified under sub-section (3) or section 14 in excess of the period fixed under sub-section (1) if such additional period does not exceed three hours on any day.]<sup>1</sup>

Spread-over.

17. The spread-over of an employee in a residential hotel, restaurant or eating-house shall not exceed fourteen-hours:

Provided that the Government may increase the spread-over period subject to such conditions as it may impose on the days that may be notified under sub-section (3) of section 14.

Holidays in a week.

18. (1) Every employee in a residential hotel, restaurant or eating-house shall be given at least one day in a week as a holiday:

Provided that nothing in this sub-section shall apply to an employee whose total period of employment in any week is less than six days.

- (2) It shall not be lawful for an employer to call an employee at, or for an employee to go to, his residential hotel, restaurant or eating-house or any other place for any work in connection with the business of his residential hotel, restaurant or eating-house on a day on which such employee has a holiday.
- (3) No deduction shall be made from the wages of any employee in a residential hotel, restaurant or eating-house on account of any holiday given

<sup>1.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 8.

to him under sub-section (1). If any employee is employed on a daily wage, he shall nonetheless be paid wages for the weekly holiday equal to the average of the daily wages earned by him during preceding six working days.

[18.A. The employers shall furnish every employee in a residential hotel, restaurant or eating-house an identity card which shall be kept by the employee when on duty and shall be produced on demand by an Inspector. Such card shall contain the following and such other particulars as may be prescribed, namely:—

Employers in residential hotel, etc. to furnish identity card to employees.

- (a) the name of the employer;
- (b) the name, if any, and the postal address, of the establishment;
- (c) the name and age of the employee;
- (d) the bours of work, the interval for rest, if any, and the holiday of the employee;
- (e) the signature (with date) of the employer;
- (f) the identity mark of an employee; and
- (s) signature or thumb impression of the employee.]

#### CHAPTER-V

## Theatres or other Places of Public Amusement or Entertainment

19. Notwithstanding anything contained in any other enactment for the time being in force, no theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment shall, on any day, be closed later than 1 a. m.

20. After the hour fixed for the closing of sheps under section 9, no goods of the kind sold in shop shall be sold in any theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment except for consumption on premises.

- [21. (1) No employee in a theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment shall be required or allowed to work for more than forty eight hours in a week and nine hours in a day.
- (2) Any employee may be required or allowed to work in a theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment for a period in excess of the limit fixed under sub-section (1) if such additional period does not exceed six hours in any week.]<sup>2</sup>
- 22. The spread-over of an employee in a theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment shall not exceed twelve hours on any day:

Provided that the Government may increase the spread-over period subject to such conditions as it may impose whether generally or in the case of a particular theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment.

23. (1) Every employee in a theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment shall be given at least one day in a week as a holiday:

Provided that nothing in this sub-section shall apply to an employee, whose total period of employment in any week is less than six days.

(2) It shall not be lawful for an employer to call an employee at, or for an employee to go to, his theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment or any other place for any work in connection with the business of his theatre or place of public amusement or entertainment on a day on which such employee has a holiday.

Closing hour of theatres or other places of public amusement or entertainment.

Theatres or other places of public amusement or entertainment not to sell goods of the kind sold in shops after the closing hour of shops.

Hours of work in theatres or other places of public amusement or entertainment.

Spread-over.

Holidays in a week.

<sup>1.</sup> Ins. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 9.

<sup>2.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 9.

(3) No deduction shall be made from the wages of an employee in a theatre or other place of public amusement or entertainment on account of any holiday given to him under sub-section (1). If any employee is employed on a daily wage he shall nonetheless be paid wages for the weekly holiday equal to the average of the daily wages earned by him during the preceding six working days.

Employer in a theatre etc. to furnish identity card to employee.

- [23-A. The employer shall furnish every employee in a theatre, or other places of public amusement or entertainment an identity card which shall be kept by the employee when on duty and shall be produced on demand by an Inspector. Such card shall contain the following and such other particulars as may be prescribed, namely:—
  - (a) the name of the employer;
  - (b) the name, if any, and the postal address of the establishment;
  - (c) the name and age of the employee;
  - (d) the hours of work, the interval of rest, if any, and the holiday of the employee;
  - (e) the signature ( with date) of the employer;
  - (f) the identity mark of an employee; and
  - (g) signature or thumb impression of the employee.]1

## [CHAPTER-VI

## Employment of Children, Young Persons and Women

No child to work in any establishment.

Young persons and women to work between 7 a.m. to 9 p. m.

Daily hours of work for young persons.

Prohibition of employment of young persons and women in dangerous work.

24. No child shall be required or allowed to work whether as an employee or otherwise in any establishment, notwithstanding that such child is a member of the family of the employer.

25. No young person or woman shall be required or allowed to work whether as an employee or otherwise in any establishment before 7 a. m. and after 9 p. m. notwithstanding that such young person or woman is a member of the family of the employer.

- 25A. (1) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, no young person shall be required or allowed to work whether as an employee or otherwise, in any establishment for more than five hours in any day.
- (2) No young person, shall be required or allowed to work whether as an employee or otherwise, in any establishment for more than three hours in any day unless he had an interval for rest of at least half an hour.

25B. No young person or woman working in any establishment, whether as an employee or otherwise, shall be required or allowed to perform such work as may be declared by the State Government, by notification, to be work involving danger to life, health or morals.]<sup>2</sup>

## CHAPTER-VII

## Leave with Pay and Payment of Wages

Employee's right for casual and privilege leave.

- 26. (1) A person employed in an establishment to which this Act applies shall be entitled—
  - (a) after every 12 months' continuous employment, to privilege leave for a total period of one month; and
  - (b) in every year to casual leave for a total period not exceeding 14
- 1. Ins. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 10.
- 2. Ins. by S. 11, ibid.

Provided that the leave under sub-clause (a) shall not at any time accumulate for a total period exceeding months:

Provided further that holidays under section 13, 18 or 23 falling during the period of such leave shall be included in the leave so granted:

Provided further that casual leave shall not be combined with privilege leave.

- (2) If an employee entitled to leave under sub-section (1) is discharged by his employer before he has been allowed leave, or if, having applied for and been refused the leave, he quits his employment before he has been allowed the leave, the employer shall pay him the amount payable under section 27 in respect of the leave.
- (3) If an employee entitled to leave under sub-section (1) is refused the leave, he may give intimation to the Inspector or any other officer authorised in this behalf by the Government regarding such refusal. The Inspector shall enter such information in a register kept in such form as may be prescribed.

Explanation.—An employee shall be deemed to have completed a period of twelve months' continuous service in an establishment notwithstanding any interruption in the service during those twelve months brought about by sickness, accident or authorised leave not exceeding ninety days in the aggregate for all three, or by a lockout or by a strike which is not an illegal strike, or by intermittent periods of involuntary unemployment not exceeding thirty days in the aggregate and authorised leave shall be deemed not to include any weekly holiday allowed under this Act which occurs at the beginning or end of an interruption brought about by the leave.

27. Every employee shall be paid for the period of his leave at a rate equivalent to the daily average of his wages for the days on which he actually worked during the preceding three months, exclusive of any earning in respect of overtime.

Pay during leave.

- 28. An employee who had been allowed leave under section 26 shall, before his leave begins, be paid half the total amount due to him for the period of such leave.
- Payment when to be made.
- 29. Any Inspector may institute proceedings on behalf of any employee in an establishment to which this Act applies to recover any sum required to be paid under this Chapter by an employer which the employer has not paid.
- Power of Inspector to act for workers.
- 30. [(1) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Payment of Wages Act, 1936 (No. IV of 1936), (hereinafter referred to in this section as the said Act), the State Government may, by notification, direct that subject to the provisions of sub-section (2) all or any of the provisions of the said Act shall apply to all or any establishment or to all or any class of employees to which or whom this Act for the time being applied.]<sup>1</sup>
- Application and amendment of the Payment of Wages Act, 1936.
- (2) On the application of the provisions of the said Act to any establishment or to any employee under sub-section (1), the Inspector, appointed under this Act, shall be deemed to be the Inspector for the purposes of the enforcement of the provisions of the said Act within the local limits of his jurisdiction.

#### CHAPTER-VIII

#### Health and Safety

31. The premises of every establishment shall be kept clean and free from effluvia arising from any drain or privy or other nuisance and shall be cleaned at such times and by such methods as may be prescribed. These methods may include lime-washing, colour-washing, painting, varnishing, disinfecting and deodorsing.

Cleanliness.

<sup>1.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 12.

Ventilation.

Precautions against fire.

32. The premises of every establishment shall be ventilated in [accordance with such standards and by such methods as may be prescribed.

33. In every establishment except such establishment or class of establishment, as may be prescribed, such precautions against fire shall be taken as may be prescribed.

#### CHAPTER-IX

#### Enforcement and Inspection

Powers and duties of local authorities.

- 34. (1) Save as otherwise provided in this Act, it shall be the duty of every local authority whom the Government may by order empower in this behalf to enforce within the area subject to its jurisdiction, the provisions of this Act, subject to the control of the Government.
- (2) The local authority empowered under sub-section (1) may by order delegate any of the powers and functions (other than the powers of making byelaws under section 35), exercisable or performable by it under this Act to any of its officers.
- (3) An order empowering a local authority under sub-section (1) may at any time be cancelled by the Government.
- (4) To enable Government to exercise effective control over a local authority in the preformance of the duties entrusted to it under this Act, Government may authorise any officer, not below the rank of a Labour Officer, to supervise the enforcement of this Act within the area subject to the jurisdiction of the local authority and for this purpose such officer shall have all the powers of an Inspector under this Chapter.

Power to make bye-laws.

35. A local authority empowered under section 34 to enforce the provisions of this Act may, with the previous sanction of the Government, make bye-laws not inconsistent with the provisions of the Act, or the rules or orders made by the Government thereunder, for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this Act.

Submission of annual report, etc.

36. It shall be the duty of every local authority empowered under section 34 to submit within three months after the close of the year to the Government a report on the working of the Act within the local area under its jurisdiction during such year. It shall submit to the Government from time to time such annual or periodical returns as may be prescribed.

Delegation.

- 37. (1) The Government may, by order, direct that any power other than the power to make rules under section 59, or any duty which is conferred or imposed on the State Government by this Act, shall in such circumstances and under such conditions, if any, as may be specified in that direction be exercised or discharged by any officer or authority subordinate to it.
- (2) Nothing in this Act shall derogate from the right of the Government to exercise any or all the functions delegated to any local authority or officer subordinate to it.
- 38. (1) If any local authority makes default in the performance of any duty imposed by or under this Act, the Government may appoint some person to perform it and may direct that the expense of performing it with a reasonable remuneration to the person appointed to perform it shall be paid forthwith by the local authority.
- (2) If the expense and remuneration are not so paid, the Government may, notwithstanding anything contained in any law relating to the municipal fund or local fund or any other law for the time being in force, make an order directing the bank in which any moneys of the local authority are deposited or the person in charge of the local Government Treasury or of any other place of security in which the moneys of the local authority are deposited, to pay such expense and remuneration from such moneys as may be standing to the credit of the local authority in such bank or may be in the hands of such person or as may from time to time be received from or on behalf of the local authority by way of deposit by such bank or person; and such bank or person shall be bound

ower of Government to provide for performance of duties on default by local authority. to obey such order. Every payment made pursuant to such order shall be sufficient discharge to such bank or person from all liability to the local authority in respect of any sum or sums so paid by it or him out of the moneys of the local authority so deposited with such bank or person.

39. Notwithstanding anything contained in any enactment in regard to any municipal or local fund, all expenses incurred by a municipality or local authority under and for the purposes of this Act, shall be paid out of the municipal or local fund, as the case may be.

- 40. (1) Every local authority empowered under section 34 shall appoint a sufficient number of persons with the prescribed qualifications as Inspectors for the area subject to its jurisdiction, as it may deem fit, for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this Act.
- (2) The Government may, by notification, appoint such persons having the prescribed qualifications, as it thinks fit, by name or virtue of office to be inspector for the purposes of this Act within such local limits and for such classes of establishments, as it may assign to each such person.
- 41. (1) Subject to any rules made by the Government in this behalf, an Inspector may, within the local limits for which he is appointed—
  - (a) enter, at all reasonable times and with such assistants, if any, being person in the service of the Government or of any local authority, as he thinks fit, any place which is or which he has reasons to believe is an establishment;
  - (b) make such examination of the premises and of any prescribed registers, records and notices, and take on the spot or otherwise evidence of any persons, as he may deem necessary, for carrying out the purposes of this Act; and
  - (c) exercise such other powers, as may be prescribed or may be necessary for carrying out the purposes of this Act:

Provided that no one shall be required under this section to answer any question or give any evidence tending to criminate himself.

- (2) For the purposes of investigation of offences under this Act, an Inspector shall have the same powers as an Officer-in-charge of a police station has under the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898 (V of 1898)<sup>1</sup> for investigation of the cognizable offences except that he shall not have the power of arrest.
- 42. Every Inspector appointed under section 40 shall be deemed to be a public servant within the meaning of section 21 of the Indian Penal Code, 1860(XLV of 1860).
- 43. Every employer shall on demand produce for inspection of an Inspector all registers, records and notices required to be kept under and for the purposes of this Act.

## CHAPTER-X

#### Offences and Penalties

- 44. (a) If any employer fails to send to the Inspector of the area concerned a statement within the period specified in section 6 or to notify a change within the period specified in section 7 or to notify the closing of his establishment under section 8; or
  - (b) if in any establishment there is any contravention of the provisions of section 9,13,14,15,19,20,31,32 or 33 or any orders made thereunder; or

Expenses of local authority to be paid out of its fund

Appointment of Inspectors.

Powers and duties of Inspectors.

Inspectors to be public servants.

Employer to produce registers, records etc. for inspection.

Contravention of certain provisions and offences.

<sup>1.</sup> See now the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (No. 2 of 1974).

- (c) if in any establishment any person is required or allowed to work in contravention of section 11,12,16,17,18,21,22 or 23; or
- [(a) if in any establishment a child, young person or woman is required or allowed to work in contravention of section 24,25-A or 25.B; or]1
- (e) if any employer contravenes the provisions of section 43,54,57 or 58; or
- (f) if in any establishment there is any contravention of any section, rule or order for which no specific punishment is provided in this Act;

the employer and the manager shall, on conviction, each be punished with fine which shall not be less than [fifty rupees]2 and which may extend to

[five hundred rupees:]3

<sup>4</sup>[Provided that if the contravention of the provisions of sub-sections (2) and (5) of section 6 is continued after the expiry of the tenth day after conviction, the employer shall on conviction be punished with a further fine which may extend to [fifty rupees]5 for each day on which the contravention is so continued.]

Contravention of section 10.

<sup>6</sup>[45. If any person contravenes the provisions of section 10, he shall, on conviction, be punished with fine which may extend to [one hundred rupees.]7

Employees contravening sections 13(3), 18, 25 and 57.

46. If an employee contravenes the provisions of sub-section (3) of section 13 or sub-section (2) of section 18 or sub-section (2) of section 25, or section 57 he shall, on conviction, be punished with fine which may extend to fifty rupees.

False entries by employer and manager.

- 47. [(1)]8 If any employer or manager with intent to deceive, makes or causes or allows to be made, in any register, record or notice prescribed to be maintained under the provisions of this Act, or the rules made thereunder, an entry which, to his knowledge, is false in any material particular, or wilfully omits, or causes or allows to be omitted, from any such register, record or notice, an entry which is required to be made therein under the provisions of this Act or the rules made thereunder, or maintains or causes or allows to be maintained, more than one set of any register, record or notice except the office copy of such notice, or sends or causes or allow to be sent, to an Insepector, any statement, information or notice prescribed to be sent under the provisions of this Act, or the rules made thereunder which to his knowledge is false in any material particular, he shall, on conviction, be punished with imprisonment [not exceeding one year or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees or with both.79
- [(2) An offence under sub-section (1) shall be triable by a Court of Judicial Magistrate of competent jurisdiction. 110

Enhanced penalty in certain cases after previous conviction.

<sup>11</sup>[48. If any employer who has been convicted of any offence under sub-section (1) of section 9 or section 11,12 or 13 or sub-section (1) of section section 16,17,18,19,21,22,23,24,25,25-A,25-B, 43, [49, 54 or 58] 12 is again guilty of an offence, involving contravention of the same provision, he

- Subs. by M.P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 13(i).
- Subs. by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 10 for "ten rupees".
- Subs. by S. 10, ibid for "one hundred rupees".
- Ins. by M.P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 13(ii).
- Subs. by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 10 for "ten rupees".
- 6. Subs. by M.P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 14.
- Subs. by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 11 for "twenty five rupees".
- Re-numbered by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 12.
- Subs. by S. 12 (a), ibid, for "not exceeding six months or with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees or with both".
- 10. Ins. by S. 12 (b), ibid.
- 11. Subs. by M.P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 15.
- 1. Subs. by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 13 (i), for "49 or 58".

shall be punished on a subsequent conviction with fine which shall not be less than [fifty rupees]<sup>1</sup> and which may extend to [one thousand five hundred rupees.]<sup>2</sup>

49. Whoever wilfully obstructs Inspector in the exercise of any power under section 41 or conceals or prevents any employee in an establishment from appearing before or being examined by an Inspector, shall, on conviction be punished with fine which shall not be less than [fifty rupees]<sup>3</sup> and which may extend to [one thousand rupees.]<sup>4</sup>

Penalty for obstructing Inspector.

[50. (1) Where the owner of an establishment is a firm or other association of individuals, all the partners or members thereof may be prosecuted and punished under this Act for any offence for which an employer in an establishment is punishable.

Persons who may be liable to be prosecuted against and punished.

- (2) Where the owner of an establishment is a company, all the directors thereof, or in the case of a private company, all the share holders thereof, may be prosecuted and punished under this Act for any offence for which the employer in an establishment is punishable.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-sections (1) and (2) where an offence under this Act has been committed for the first time the employer or the manager shall be deemed to be guilty of the offence and shall be liable to be proceeded against and punished accordingly.]<sup>5</sup>
- 51. (1) No prosecution under this Act or the rules or orders made thereunder shall be instituted except by an Inspector and except with the previous sanction of local authority or any officer authorised by the Government in that behalf.

Cognizance of offences.

[51-A.(1) The Court taking cognizance of an offence under this Act shall, unless the offence is an offence under section 47,48 or 49, state upon the summons to be served on the accused person that he—

Summary disposal of cases.

- (a) may appear by a pleader and not in person; or
- (b) may, by such date prior to the hearing of the charge as may be specified therein, plead guilty to the charge by a registered letter and remit to the Court such sum as the Court may, subject to the minimum and maximum limits of fine prescribed for the said offence, specify.
- (2) Where an accused person pleads guilty and remits the sum in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (1), no further proceedings in respect of the offence shall be taken against him.]
- [51-B. Save as provided in section 47, the State Government may confer on an Executive Magistrate, the power of a Judicial Magistrate of the First Class or the Second Class for the trial of offences under this Act, and on such conferment of powers, the Executive Magistrate, on whom powers are so conferred shall be deemed for the purposes of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (No. 2 of 1974), to be a Judicial Magistrate of the First Class or the Second Class, as the case may be.]8

Offences to be tried by Executive Magistrate.

<sup>1.</sup> Subs. by M. P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 13(ii), for "fifteen rupees".

<sup>2.</sup> Subs. by S. 13(ii), ibid, for "one thousand rupees".

<sup>3.</sup> Subs. by S. 14, ibid, for "twenty five rupees".

<sup>4.</sup> Subs. by S. 14, ibid, for "five hundred rupees".

<sup>5.</sup> Subs. by S. 15, ibid.

<sup>6.</sup> Omitted by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 16.

<sup>7.</sup> Ins. by M.P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 16.

<sup>8.</sup> Ins. by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S.17.

Limitation of prosecutions.

Composition of offence.

[52. No Court shall take cognizance of an effence under this Act or any rule or order made thereunder unless complaint thereof is made within three months of the date on which the alleged commission of the offence came to the knowledge of an Inspector.] 1

- [53. (1) Subject to such conditions as may be prescribed, the Labour Commissioner or any officer not below the rank of Labour Officer, if so authorised by the Labour Commissioner, by notification, may accept from any person alleged to have committed an offence under section 6,7,8,10,11,16,18-A,21, 23-A, 25-A, 43 or 54 either before or after commencement of any proceedings against such person in respect of such offence, by way of composition for such offence, a sum not exceeding one hundred rupees for each such offence.
- On payment in full of such sum as may be detrmined by the Labour Commissioner or the Officer authorised by the Labour Commissioner under sub-section (1),-
  - (a) no preceedings shall be commenced against any person as aforesaid; and
  - (b) if any procedings have already been commenced against any person as aforesaid, such proceedings shall not be further proceeded with.]2

#### CHAPTER XI

## Miscellaneous and Supplementary

Maintenance of registers and records and display of notices.

Wages for overtime work.

54. Subject to the general or special orders of the Government an employer shall maintain or cause to be maintained such registers and records and display on the establishment such notice, as may be prescribed. All such registers and records shall be kept on the premises of the establishment to which they relate.

55. Where an employee in any establishment is required to work in excess of the limit of hours of work, he shall be entitled, in respect of the overtime work, to wages at the rate of twice his ordinary rate of wages.

[Explanation.—For the purposes of this section "limit of hours of work" shall mean...

- (a) in respect of establishment to which sections 11, 16 or 21 apply, the limits prescribed in the respective sections; and
- (b) in respect of other establishments, such number of hours of work as may be prescribed.]3

Evidence as to age.

- 56. (1) When an act or omission would, if a person were under or over a certain age, be an offence punishable under this Act, and such person is in the opinion of the Court apparently under or over such age, the burden shall be on the accused to prove that such person is not under or over such age.
- A declaration in writing by a qualified Medical Practitioner relating to an employee that he has personally examined him and believes him to be under or over the age set forth in such declaration shall, for the purposes of this Act, be admissible as evidence of the age of the employee.

Explanation.— For the purpose of this section, a qualified Medical Practitioner shall have the same meaning as in the Factories Act, 1948 (LXIII of 1948).

- 57. No employee shall work in any establishment, nor shall any employer engage an employee to work in any establishment on a day on which such employee is given a holiday or is on leave in accordance with the provisions of this Act.
- [58. (1) No employer shall dispense with the services of an employee who has been employed for a period of three months or more except for a reasonable cause, and without giving such employee at least one month's notice or wages in lieu of such notice.

during leave.

ment on a holiday or

Restriction of double employ-

Notice of dismissal.

Subs. by M.P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 17. Subs. by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 18. Subs by M.P. Act 19 of 1967, S. 18.

Provided that such notice shall not be necessary if the services of such employees are dispensed with on a charge of misconduct supported by satisfactory evidence recorded at an enquiry held by the employer for the purpose.

- (2) (a) The employee discharged, dismissed or retrenched may appeal to such authority and within such time as may be prescribed either on the ground that there was no reasonable cause for dispensing with his services or on the ground that he had not been guilty of misconduct as held by the employer or on the ground that such punishment of discharge or dismissal was severe.
  - (b) The appellate authority may, after giving notice in the prescribed manner to the employer and the employee, dismiss the appeal or direct the reinstatement of the employee with or without wages for the period during which he was kept out of employment or direct payment of compensation without reinstatement or grant such other relief as it deems fit in the circumstances of the case.
- (3) The decision of the appellate authority shall be final and binding on both the parties and be given effect to, within such time as may be specified in the order of the appellate authority.]<sup>1</sup>
- 59. (1) The Government may make rules to carry out the purposes of the Act,—

Rules.

- (2) In particular and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing provision, such rules may be made for all or any of the following matters, namely:-
  - (a) (i) the form of submission of a statement to the Inspector, and the fees and other particulars which shall be given along with such statement under sub-section (2) of section 6;
    - (ii) the manner of registration of establishment in the register of establishments and the form in which a registration certificate shall be issued to the employer under sub-section (3) of section 6;
    - (iii) prescribing fee for renewal of registration certificate under subsection (5) of section 6;
  - (b) the form in which a change shall be notified to the Inspector under section 7;
  - (c) fixing six days in a year for additional overtime and prescription of occasions under sub-section (3) of section 11;
  - (d) the form of register for entering refusal of leave to be kept under section 26;
  - (e) fixing times and methods for cleaning the establishments under section 31; fixing standards and methods for ventilation under section 32; and prescribing such establishments as are to be exempted from the provisions of, and precautions against fire to be taken under section 33;
  - (f) annual or periodical returns which shall be submitted to Government under section 36;
  - (g) the qualifications of Inspectors to be appointed under section 40 and the powers which such Inspectors shall exercise under section 41;
  - (h) the registers and records to be maintained and the notice to be displayed on the premises of the establishment under section 54;
  - (i) the limit of hours of work under clause (c) of the Explanation to section 55;

- the authority to which and the time within which an appeal may be filed by a dismissed, discharged or retrenched employee; j i
  - (k) any other matter which is to be or may be prescribed.
- (3) The rules made under this section shall be subject to the condition of previous publication and, when so made shall be deemed, to be part of this Act.

Protection to persons acting under this Act.

60. No suit, prosecution or other legal proceeding shall lie against any person for anything which is in good faith done or intended to be done under

Rights and privileges under other law, etc, not affected.

61. Nothing in this Act shall affect any rights or privileges which an employee in any establishment is entitled to at the date this Act comes into force in a local area, under any other law, contract, custom or usage applicable to such establishment or any award, settlement, or agreement binding on the employer and the employee in such establishment, if such rights or privileges are more favourable to him than those to which he would be entitled under this Act.

Persons employed in factory to be governed by Factories Act and not by this Act.

[62. Nothing in this Act shall be deemed to apply to any person employed in an establishment situated in or within the precincts of a factory and the provisions of the Factories Act, 1948 (LXIII of 1948), shall notwithstanding anything in the said Act, apply to such person.

Provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Act, to apply mutatis mutandis.

63. The provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Act, 1923 (VIII of 1923) and of rules made thereunder shall mutatis mutandis, apply to every employee of an establishment] 2.

Provisions of provident fund.

64. Every employer shall, in accordance with the rules made by the Government, provide a provident fund for the benefit of every employee and shall contribute to this fund an amount equal to the amount contributed by the employee not exceeding six and a quarter percent of his wages:

Provided that this section shall apply only to such places and such classes of employers as may be notified in this behalf by the Government.

65. As from the date appointed under sub-section (3) of section (1), the enactments specified in Schedule II shall stand repealed:

Provided that-

- every appointment, order, rule, bye-law, regulation, notification or notice made, issued or given under the provisions of any enactment shall in so far as is not inconsistent with the provisions of this Act, be deemed to have been made, issued or given under the provisions of this Act. unless and until superseded by any appointment, order, rule, bye-law. regulation, notification or notice made, issued or given under this Act;
- any proceeding relating to the trial of any of offence punishable under the provisions of any enactment so repealed shall be continued and completed as if such enactment had not been repealed but had continued in operation and any penalty imposed in such proceedings shall be recovered under the enactment so repealed.

#### SCHEDULE I

[ See section 1 (4) ]

- Limits of the Jabalpur Corporation.
- The Municipal limits of Raipur, Rajnandgaon, Khandwa, Burhanpur, Sagar, Raigarh, Bilaspur, Chhindwara, Seoni, Damoh, Katni-Murwara, Itarsi and Durg.
- 1. Subs. by M.P. Act 10 of 1982, S. 20.
- Subs. by M.P. Act 19 of 1967, S.19.

Repeal.

- 3. Limits of the Sagar Cantonment.
- 4. Bilaspur Railway Market area.
- 5. The Municipal (Corporation) limits of Indore and three miles around such limit.
- 6. The Municipal (Corporation) limits of Lashkar, Gwalior and Morar including the industrial area.
- 7. The Municipal limits of Ujjain, Madhonagar, Ashok Nagar, Mandsaur, Vidisha, Dewas, Morena, Neemuch, Guna, Badnagar and Khargone.
- 8. The Municipal Limits of Ratlam and two miles around such limits.

## SCHEDULE II

( See section 65 )

No. and Year of enactment	Name of enactment	
(1)	(2)	
No. 22 of 1947	The Central Provinces and Berar Shops and Establishments Act, 1947.	
No. 7 of 1952	The Madhya Bharat Shops and Establishments Act, Samvat 2009.	

इसे वेबसाईट www.govtpressmp.nic.in से भी डाउन लोड किया जा सकता है.



# मध्यप्रदेश राजपत्र

## ( असाधारण ) प्राधिकार से प्रकाशित

क्रमांक 638]

भोपाल, मंगलवार, दिनांक 30 दिसम्बर 2014-पौष 9, शक 1936

## विधि और विधायी कार्य विभाग

भोपाल, दिनांक 30 दिसम्बर, 2014

क्र. 7515-348-इक्कीस-अ-(प्रा.)-अधि.—मध्यप्रदेश विधान सभा का निम्नलिखित अधिनियम जिस पर दिनांक 29 दिसम्बर 2014 को राज्यपाल महोदय की अनुमति प्राप्त हो चुकी है, एतद्द्वारा सर्वसाधारण की जानकारी के लिये प्रकाशित किया जाता है.

> मध्यप्रदेश के राज्यपाल के नाम से तथा आदेशानुसार, राजेश यादव, अपर सचिव.

## मध्यप्रदेश अधिनियम

क्रमांक २१ सन् २०१४

## मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना (संशोधन) अधिनियम, २०१४

विषय-सूची.

## धाराएं :

- १. संक्षिप्त नाम और प्रारंभ.
- २. धारा ६ का संशोधन.
- ३. धारा ३३ का स्थापन.
- ४. धारा ४१ का संशोधन.
- ५. धारा ५३ का स्थापन.
- ६. धारा ५४ का संशोधन.
- ७. धारा ५९ का संशोधन.
- ८. निरसन तथा व्यावृत्ति.

## मध्यप्रदेश अधिनियम

क्रमांक २१ सन् २०१४

## मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना (संशोधन) अधिनियम, २०१४

[दिनांक 29 दिसम्बर, 2014 को राज्यपाल की अनुमित प्राप्त हुई, अनुमित ''मध्यप्रदेश राजपत्र (असाधारण)'' में दिनांक 30 दिसम्बर, 2014 को प्रथम बार प्रकाशित की गई.]

## मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना अधिनियम, १९५८ को और संशोधित करने हेतु अधिनियम

भारत गणराज्य के पैंसठवें वर्ष में मध्यप्रदेश विधान-मण्डल द्वारा निम्नलिखित रूप में यह अधिनियमित हो :--

संक्षिप्त नाम और प्रारंभ.

- १. (१) इस अधिनियम का संक्षिप्त नाम मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना (संशोधन) विधेयक, २०१४ है.
  - (२) यह मध्यप्रदेश राजपत्र में इसके प्रकाशन की तारीख को प्रवृत्त होगा.

धारा ६ का संशोधन.

- २. मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना अधिनियम, १९५८ (क्रमांक २५ सन् १९५८) (जो इसमें इसके पश्चात् मूल अधिनियम के नाम से निर्दिष्ट है) की धारा ६ में, उपधारा (३) में, अंत में आने वाले पूर्ण विराम के स्थान पर,कोलन स्थापित किया जाए और तत्पश्चात् निम्नलिखित परंतुक अंत:स्थापित किया जाए, अर्थात् :—
  - ''परंतु यदि उपधारा (२) के अधीन आवेदन प्रस्तुत किए जाने की तारीख से विहित कालाविध के भीतर निरीक्षक द्वारा कोई विपरीत आदेश पारित नहीं किया जाता है तो सम्यक् रूप से पंजीयन कर दिया गया समझा जाएगा.''.

धारा ३३ का स्थापन.

३. मूल अधिनियम की धारा ३३ के स्थान पर, निम्नलिखित धारा स्थापित की जाए, अर्थात्:--

आग तथा परिसंकटों से बचाव के लिए पूर्वोपाय. ''३३. ऐसी स्थापना या स्थापनाओं की श्रेणी को छोड़कर, जो कि विहित की जाए, प्रत्येक स्थापना में आग से बचाव के लिए ऐसे पूर्वोपाय तथा कर्मचारियों के स्वास्थ्य एवं सुरक्षा को सुनिश्चित करने के लिए ऐसे अध्युपाय किए जाएंगे जैसे कि विहित किए जाएं.''.

धारा ४१ का संशोधन.

- ४. मूल अधिनियम की धारा ४१ में, उपधारा (२) के पश्चात्, निम्नलिखित नई उपधारा जोड़ी जाए, अर्थात् :—
  - ''(३) उपधारा (१) में अंतर्विष्ट किसी बात के होते हुए भी, कोई भी निरीक्षक श्रम आयुक्त या उसके द्वारा इस प्रकार प्राधिकृत किसी अधिकारी की अनुज्ञा के सिवाय किसी ऐसी स्थापना में अपनी शिक्तयों का प्रयोग नहीं करेगा जहां कि दस से कम कर्मचारी नियोजित हैं.''.

धारा ५३ का स्थापन.

५. मूल अधिनियम की धारा ५३ के स्थान पर, निम्नलिखित धारा स्थापित की जाए, अर्थात् :—

अपराध का समझौता.

- "५३. इस अधिनियम के किन्हीं अन्य उपबंधों में अंतर्विष्ट किसी बात के होते हुए भी, राज्य सरकार द्वारा, अधिसूचना द्वारा, इस निमित्त प्राधिकृत कोई अधिकारी, इस निमित्त राज्य सरकार के किसी सामान्य या विशेष आदेश के अध्यधीन रहते हुए, प्रथम बार या पूर्व के अपराध के (यदि कोई हो), कारित किए जाने से दो वर्ष की कालाविध का अवसान हो जाने के पश्चात् कारित किसी अपराध का या तो अभियोजन संस्थित किए जाने के पूर्व या उसके पश्चात्, समझौता शुल्क के रूप में उतनी धन राशि, जो जुर्माने की अधिकतम धन राशि से अधिक न हो परन्तु जो जुर्माने की अधिकतम धनराशि के आधे से कम न हो, जितनी कि वह उचित समझे, वसूल करने के पश्चात्, समझौता करा सकेगा; जब अपराध का समझौता—
  - (एक) अभियोजन संस्थित किए जाने के पूर्व, कराया जाता है तो अपराधी अभियोजन का दायी नहीं होगा और यदि अभिरक्षा में है तो स्वतंत्र कर दिया जाएगा;

(दो) अभियोजन संस्थित किए जाने के पश्चात कराया जाता है तो समझौते से अपराधी दोषम्क्त हो जाएगा.''.

६. मूल अधिनियम की धारा ५४ में, अंत में आने वाले पूर्ण विराम के स्थान पर, कोलन स्थापित किया जाए और का उसके पश्चात् निम्नलिखित परंतुक अंत:स्थापित किए जाएं, अर्थात् :--संशोधन.

''परंतु सरकार, आदेश द्वारा, ऊपर विहित प्ररूपों के बदले पंजियों तथा अभिलेखों को रखने के लिये समेकित प्ररूप बना सकेगी या अधिसूचित कर सकेगी:

परंतु यह और कि सरकार पंजियों तथा अभिलेखों का कम्प्यूटरीकृत या डिजिटल रूपविधान (फार्मेट) में संधारित किया जाना, अनुज्ञात कर सकेगी.''.

७. मूल अधिनियम की धारा ५९ में, उपधारा (२) में, खण्ड (ङ) में, शब्द "आग से बचने के लिए बरती जाने वाली सावधानी'' के स्थान पर ''आग तथा परिसंकटों से बचने के लिए बरती जाने वाली सावधानी'' स्थापित किए जाएं.

धारा ५९ संशोधन.

तथा

- निरसन ८. (१) मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना (संशोधन) अध्यादेश, २०१४ (क्रमांक ७ सन् २०१४) एतदद्वारा निरसित व्यावृत्ति. किया जाता है.
- (२) उक्त अध्यादेश के निरसित होते हुए भी, उक्त अध्यादेश के अधीन की गई कोई, बात या की गई कोई कार्रवाई इस अधिनियम के तत्स्थानी उपबंधों के अधीन की गई बात या की गई कार्रवाई समझी जाएगी.

## भोपाल, दिनांक 30 दिसम्बर 2014

क्र. 7517-348-इक्कीस-अ(प्रा.)अधि..-भारत के संविधान के अनुच्छेद 348 के खण्ड (3) के अनुसरण में, मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना (संशोधन) अधिनियम, 2014 (क्रमांक 21 सन् 2014) का अंग्रेजी अनुवाद राज्यपाल के प्राधिकार से एतदुद्वारा प्रकाशित किया जाता है.

> मध्यप्रदेश के राज्यपाल के नाम से तथा आदेशानुसार, राजेश यादव, अपर सचिव.

#### MADHYA PRADESH ACT

No. 21 of 2014

## THE MADHYA PRADESHS SHOPS AND ESTABLISHMENTS (AMENDMENT ACT, 2014)

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### Sections:

- 1. Short title and commencement.
- 2. Amendment of section 6.
- 3. Substitution of section 33.
- 4. Amendment of section 41.
- 5. Substitution of section 53.
- 6. Amendment of section 54.
- 7. Amendment of section 59.
- 8. Repeal and saving.

## MADHYA PRADESH ACT No. 21 of 2014.

## THE MADHYA PRADESH SHOPS AND ESTABLISHMENTS (AMENDMENT) ACT, 2014

[Received the assent of the Governor on the 29th December, 2014; assent first published in the "Madhya Pradesh Gazette (Extra-ordinary)", dated the 30th December, 2014].

A Act further to arnend. the Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishment, Act, 1958.

Be it enacted by the Madhya Pradesh Legislature in the sixty-fifth year of the Republic of India as follows:—

## Short title and commencement.

- 1. (1) This Act May be called the Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments (Amendment) Bill, 2014.
  - (2) It shall come into force on the date of its publication in the Madhya Pradesh Gazette.

## Amendment of Section 6.

- 2. In section 6 of the Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments Act, 1958 (No. 25 of 1958) (hereinafter referred to as the principal Act), in sub-section (3), for the full stop occurring at the last place, the colon shall be substituted and thereafter the following proviso shall be inserted, namely:—
  - "Provided that if no adverse order is passed by the Inspetor within the prescribed period from the date of submission of application under sub-setion (2), then the registration shall be deemed to be duly granted.".

## Substitution of Section 33.

`3. For Section 33 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:—

# Precaution against fire and hazards.

33. In every establishment except such establishment or class of establishment, as may be prescribed, such precaution against fire and such measures for ensuring health and safety of employees shall be taken as may be prescribed.".

## Amendment of Section 41.

- 4. In Section 41 of the principal Act, after sub-section (2), the following new sub-section shall be added, namely:—
  - "(3) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), no Inspector shall exercise his powers, in an establishment where less than ten employees are employed, except with the permission of the Labour Commissioner or an officer so authorised by him,",

## Substitution of section 53.

5. For Section 53 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted namely:—

Composition of affence.

"53. Notwithstanding anything contained in any other provision of this Act, an officer authorized by the State Government in this behalf by notification may, subject to any general or special order of the State Government in this behalf, compound any offence committed for the first time or after expiry of a period of two years of commitment of previous offence (if any), either before or after institution of the prosecution, on realization of such amount of composition fee, as he thinks fit, not exceeding the maximum amount of fine but not less than half of the maximum amount of fine for the offence as composition fee; when the offence is so compounded.

- (i) before the institution of the prosecution, the offender shall not be liable to prosecution and shall, if in custody, be set at liberty;
- (ii) after the institution of prosecution the composition shall amount to acquital of the offender.".
- 6. In Section 54 of the principal Act, for the full stop occurring at the last place, the colon shall be substituted and thereafter the following provisos shall be inserted, namely:—

Amendment of Section 54.

"Provided that the Government, by order may devise or notify consolidated forms for maintaining registers and records in lieu of the ferms prescribed above:

Provided further that the Government may allow the registers and records to be maintained in computerised or digital formats.".

7. In Section 59 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), in clause (e), for the words "precautions against fire", the words "precautions against fire and hazards" shall be substituted.

Amendment of Section 59.

8. (1) The Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments (Amendment) Ordinance, 2014 (No. 7 of 2014) is hereby repealed.

Repeal and saving.

(2) Notwithstanding the repeal of the said Ordinance, anything done or any action taken undner the said Ordinance shall be deemed to have been done or taken under the corresponding provision of this Act.

इसे बेवसाईट www.govtpress.mp.gov.in से भी डाउन लोड किया जा सकता है.



# मध्यप्रदेश राजपत्र

# ( असाधारण ) प्राधिकार से प्रकाशित

क्रमांक 254]

भोपाल, गुरुवार, दिनांक 11 सितम्बर 2025-भाद्र 20, शक 1947

## विधि और विधायी कार्य विभाग

भोपाल, दिनांक 11 सितम्बर 2025

क्र. 8760—165—इक्कीस—अ (प्रा.).— मध्यप्रदेश विधान सभा का निम्नलिखित अधिनियम जिस पर दिनांक 9 सितम्बर 2025 को राज्यपाल महोदय की अनुमित प्राप्त हो चुकी है, एतद्द्वारा, सर्वसाधारण की जानकारी के लिये प्रकाशित किया जाता है.

> मध्यप्रदेश के राज्यपाल के नाम से तथा आदेशानुसार, आर. पी. गुप्ता, अतिरिक्त सचिव.

## मध्यप्रदेश अधिनियम

क्रमांक २० सन् २०२५

## मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना (संशोधन) अधिनियम, २०२५

[ दिनांक ६ सितम्बर, २०२५ को राज्यपाल की अनुमति प्राप्त हुई; अनुमति ''मध्यप्रदेश राजपत्र (असाधारण)'' में दिनांक १९ सितम्बर, २०२५ को प्रथमबार प्रकाशित की गई. ]

मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना अधिनियम, १६५८ को और संशोधित करने हेतु अधिनियम.

भारत गणराज्य के छिहत्तरवें वर्ष में मध्यप्रदेश विधान-मण्डल द्वारा निम्नलिखित रूप में यह अधिनियमित हो:-

संक्षिप्त नाम और प्रारंभ.

- 9. (१) इस अधिनियम का संक्षिप्त नाम मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना (संशोधन) अधिनियम, २०२५ है.
  - (२) यह मध्यप्रदेश राजपत्र में इसके प्रकाशन की तारीख से प्रवृत्त होगा.
- धारा १९ का २. मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना अधिनियम, १६५८ (क्रमांक २५ सन् १६५८) (जो इसमें इसके पश्चात् मूल अधिनियम संशोधन. के नाम से निर्दिष्ट है) की धारा १९ में, उपधारा (२) में, शब्द "किसी सप्ताह में छह घंटे" के स्थान पर, शब्द "किसी तिमाही में एक सौ चवालीस घंटे" स्थापित किए जाएं.
- धारा १६ का ३. मूल अधिनियम की धारा १६ में, उपधारा (२) में, शब्द ''किसी सप्ताह में छह घंटे'' के स्थान पर, शब्द ''किसी तिमाही संशोधन में एक सौ चवालीस घंटे'' स्थापित किए जाएं.
- धारा २९ का ४. मूल अधिनियम की धारा २९ में, उपधारा (२) में, शब्द ''किसी सप्ताह में छह घंटे'' के स्थान पर, शब्द ''किसी तिमाही संशोधन. में एक सौ चवालीस घंटे'' स्थापित किए जाएं.

## भोपाल, दिनांक 11 सितम्बर 2025

क्र. 8760—165—इक्कीस—अ (प्रा.).— भारत के संविधान के अनुच्छेद 348 के खण्ड (3) के अनुसरण में, मध्यप्रदेश दुकान तथा स्थापना (संशोधन) अधिनियम, 2025 (क्रमांक 20 सन् 2025) का अंग्रेजी अनुवाद राज्यपाल के प्राधिकार से एतद्द्वारा प्रकाशित किया जाता है.

मध्यप्रदेश के राज्यपाल के नाम से तथा आदेशानुसार, आर. पी. गुप्ता, अतिरिक्त सचिव.

#### MADHYA PRADESH ACT

### NO. 20 OF 2025

# THE MADHYA PRADESH SHOPS AND ESTABLISHMENTS (AMENDMENT) ACT, 2025

[ Received the assent of the Governor on the 9th September, 2025; assent first published in the "Madhya Pradesh Gazette (Extra-ordinary)", dated the 11th September, 2025. ]

## An Act further to amend the Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments Act, 1958.

Be it enacted by the Madhya Pradesh Legislature in the Seventy-Sixth year of the Republic of India as follows:-

1. (1) This Act may be called the Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments

(Amendment) Act, 2025

Short title and commencement.

- (2) It shall come into force from the date of its publication in the Madhya Pradesh
- 2. In Section 11 of the Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments Act, 1958 (No. 25 of 1958) (hereinafter referred to as the principal Act), in sub-section (2), for the words "six hours in any week" the words "one hundred forty four hours in any quarter" shall be substituted.

Amendment of Section 11.

3. In Section 16 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), for the words "six hours in any week" the words "one hundred forty four hours in any quarter" shall be substituted.

Amendment of Section 16.

4. In Section 21 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), for the words "six hours in any week" the words "one hundred forty four hours in any quarter" shall be substituted.

Amendment of Section 21.